THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM SOUTH CAROLINA  
Workers' Compensation Commission

---

WCC File No. 0717624

Appellate Case No. 2014-002354

---

**RECEIVED**

FEB 09 2015

**SC Court of Appeals**

Hector G. Fragosa, Employee/Claimant, ..... Appellant,

v.

Kade Construction, LLC, Employer, and Key Risk Management Services, Inc., Carrier,  
..... Respondents.

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

Stephen B. Samuels  
SAMUELS LAW FIRM, LLC  
1320 Richland Street  
Columbia, SC 29201  
(803) 779-4000  
stephen@samuelslawfirm.net

Jeff C. Chandler  
CHANDLER LAW FIRM  
Bank of America Building  
2501 North Oak Street  
Myrtle Beach, SC 29577

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

### A. Issues appealed after remand:

1. Whether the Workers Compensation Commission erred in failing to award lifetime benefits for physical brain damage when Hector Fragosa suffered a “46% permanent impairment to the whole person for a traumatic brain injury” and “is permanently and totally disabled”, thus meeting the statutory requirements for lifetime compensation for physical brain damage under S.C. Code § 42-9-10 (C)(2007).
2. Whether the Workers Compensation Commission erred in failing to comply with the instructions to “remand for clarification regarding the existence of a physical brain injury,” when the Commission made new findings without reference to its previous findings, such new findings being inconsistent, unsupported by the evidence in the record, and based on the medical opinions of the Commissioner rather than the doctors.
3. Whether § 42-9-10 requires that total and permanent disability result solely from physical brain damage rather than merely requiring that the claimant suffer physical brain damage as a result of the compensable injury as held in Pearson v. JPS Converter & Indus. Corp., 327 S.C. 393, 400, 489 S.E.2d 219, 222 (Ct. App.1997).

### B. Issues appealed prior to remand raised again to preserve issues under Bone v. U.S. Food Serv., 404 S.C. 67, 744 S.E.2d 552 (2013):

1. Whether the Workers Compensation Commission erred as a matter of fact and law in finding: “That, based on the greater weight of the evidence, I find there has not been a physical brain injury as it does not meet the criteria established under the South Carolina Workers’ Compensation Act. This award is made under § 42-9-30 and § 42-9-10 and physical brain damage does not apply.”
2. Whether the Workers’ Compensation Commission erred as a matter of fact and law in finding that a neuropsychologist was qualified to give an opinion as to whether “functional studies, such as EEGs, CTs and MRIs, were read as unremarkable ‘demonstrating structural resolution of the work-related injury’” when a neuropsychologist’s expertise does not extend to reading and interpreting EEGs, CTs and MRIs.

3. Whether the Workers' Compensation Commission erred as a matter of fact and law in arbitrarily disregarding the unrefuted expert medical opinion of Dr. Sandoz that Claimant had suffered a physical brain injury.
4. Whether the Workers' Compensation Commission erred as a matter of fact and law in giving any weight to Dr. Wagner's opinion when the opinion was not stated to a reasonable degree of medical certainty.
5. Whether the Workers' Compensation Commission erred as a matter of law in failing to make specific and detailed findings of fact sufficient for appellate review.
6. Whether the Workers' Compensation Commission erred as a matter of fact and law in failing to award lifetime compensation to Claimant in that he was totally disabled and had suffered physical brain injury.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This workers' compensation appeal arises out of an accident suffered by the Appellant, Hector Fragosa, on November 1, 2007. Fragosa's Employer, Kade Construction, LLC, and its Carrier, Key Risk Management Services, Inc., accepted liability and began providing benefits. Employer and Carrier are the Respondents in this appeal.

On March 25, 2011, Respondents filed a Form 21 (Employer's Request for Hearing) seeking to terminate temporary compensation. [Form 21].

Appellant filed a Form 50 (Request for Hearing) on April 8, 2011, alleging he was entitled to lifetime compensation and medical treatment due to permanent and total disability accompanied by physical brain damage. [Form 50]. Respondents timely filed a Form 51 (Employer's Answer to Request for Hearing) on April 19, 2011. Respondents admitted the work injury, but denied Fragosa sustained injuries to the extent alleged in the Form 50 [Form 51].

The Workers' Compensation set the hearing on the Forms 21, 50 and 51.

The hearing was held on June 28, 2011, before Commissioner Avery B. Wilkerson. The primary issue in dispute was whether Hector Fragosa was permanently and totally disabled with physical brain damage.

Commissioner Wilkerson issued an Order on November 21, 2011, Fragosa: "has not suffered a physical brain injury and is not entitled to lifetime compensation benefits under the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Act." He found as a fact that "based on the greater weight of the evidence, I find there has not been a physical brain injury as it does not meet the criteria established under the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Act. This award is made under 42-9-30 and 42-9-10 and physical brain damage does not apply." He further found "Under 42-9-30 and Reg. 67-1101, the

Claimant's multiple impairment ratings to his right lower extremity, left upper extremity, head and inner ear render the Claimant permanently and totally disabled.” [SC Order].

Fragosa timely appealed to the Appellate Panel of the Full Commission on December 5, 2011. [Form 30]. The Oral argument was held before the Appellate Panel on March 19, 2012. The Appellate Panel affirmed the Single Commissioner’s Order on May 23, 2012. [FC Order].

Fragosa timely appealed to the South Carolina Court of Appeals on June 18, 2012. The primary issues raised were (1) whether the Commission erred as a matter of law in finding Fragosa had not suffered physical brain damage; and (2) in relying on the opinion of a neuropsychologist, Dr. Mark Wagner, in interpreting imaging studies. Oral arguments were heard on October 10, 2013. On November 27, 2013, the Court issued a published opinion. Fragosa v. Kade Constr., LLC, 407 S.C. 424, 755 S.E.2d 462 (Ct. App. 2013).

In the opinion, the Court affirmed the “Appellate Panel's reliance on the opinion of Dr. Wagner and remand for clarification regarding the existence of a physical brain injury.” Id.

Fragosa timely filed a Petition for Rehearing and a Petition for Rehearing en banc on December 12, 2013. Respondents filed a Return to the Petition for Rehearing on December 23, 2013. Fragosa filed a Reply to the Return on December 31, 2013. The Court denied both Petitions on March 31, 2014.

Fragosa timely filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari on April 30, 2014. The South Carolina Supreme Court denied the Petition on July 24, 2014.

This Court then issued the Remittitur on August 2, 2014, remanding the case to the Workers’ Compensation Commission.

On September 30, 2014, the Appellate Panel issued a Decision and Order on Remand. The

Appellate Panel entirely disregarded its previous findings, instead making 28 new findings of fact, ultimately concluding “Based upon these findings, the Appellate Panel finds that the ultimate, residual affects of Claimant’s head injury are not of sufficient severity to reach the level of physical brain damage as contemplated in Section 42-9-10(C). [FC Order, p. 9, Finding of fact 27]. The Appellate Panel ordered:

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED that Claimant is permanently and totally disabled and is entitled to benefits as provided in S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-10(A) (1976, as amended). Claimant is not entitled to benefits under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-10(C). [FC Order, p. 10].

This appeal followed.

### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

Hector Fragosa is 32 years old and originally from Mexico where he obtained the equivalent of a middle school education. He does not speak English and testified through a Spanish interpreter.

On November 1, 2007, Fragosa was working on a construction project for the Employer in Marion, South Carolina. Fragosa was on the roof of a parking garage. He was hit in the head with part of a construction crane which fractured his skull, and knocked him off the roof onto the ground.

At the scene, Fragosa was combative, vomited, and suffered respiratory failure – all symptoms of traumatic brain injury. He was transported to MUSC by helicopter.

Fragosa was hospitalized for one month following his accident – the first two weeks of which he was in a coma. He has no memory of the accident.

Fragosa suffered numerous injuries, to wit (drawn from the discharge summary at MUSC):

1. Subdural and epidural hematomas.
2. Bilateral frontal contusions.
3. Respiratory failure.
4. Hypotension that was treated with intravenous fluid.

5. Scalp laceration with large complex, status post repair.
6. CT and T1 spinous process fractures.
7. Right rib fractures which include 7, 8, 9, 10.
8. Bilateral transverse process fractures of L1 and L2, right L3.
9. Right big toe fracture.
10. Right fifth toe fracture.
11. Fracture of skull, midline to sagittal through frontal and parietal.
12. Placement of percutaneous endoscopic gastrostomy.
13. Tracheostomy.
14. Status post amputation of 2<sup>nd</sup> through 5<sup>th</sup> toes. [APA p. 591].

The specific diagnoses related to physical brain damage are (1) skull fracture; (2) open complex scalp wound with epidural and subdural hematoma; and (3) bilateral frontal contusions. [APA 653]. The attending physician at MUSC documented dramatic evidence of physical brain damage, reporting: “This patient incurred a large fracture through the skull, apparently it is open, with subdural and epidural fluid collections.” [Claimant’s APA, page 1].

While in the hospital, Fragosa required a “percutaneous endoscopic gastrostomy tube for continued enteral feeds and nutritional support.” [Claimant’s APA, page 306]. The surgeon who implanted the tube, Dr. Stuart Leon, noted: “The patient sustained several injuries, the most significant of which was a closed-head injury with an epidural hematoma. **This injury has left Mr. Gomez neurologically devastated.**” [Claimant’s APA, page 306].

The Employer accepted Fragosa’s claim and began providing benefits, including treatment from a Spanish-speaking neurologist, Dr. George Sandoz.<sup>1</sup> Dr. Sandoz made numerous statements throughout his medical records confirming the physical brain damage.

On October 10, 2008 – nearly a year after the accident – Fragosa presented to Dr. Sandoz “with the complaint of dizziness [and] spells that suggest that the patient is having seizures . . .

---

<sup>1</sup>Dr. Sandoz is the only medical provider who was able to speak with Fragosa without an interpreter. Dr. Sandoz is “fluent in Spanish.” [Dep. Tr. Page 4, lines 22-25].

From the evidence of the brain, this was reviewed by me and it suggest that there is a **right temporal lobe injury.**” [Claimant’s APA p. 693 (emphasis added)].

Several weeks later on October 24, 2008, Dr. Sandoz reported, “This has been worked up and has shown no evidence of any seizure and nor any evidence of any damage of the brain. **Despite that review of the MRI shows some mild abnormality in the temporal lobe.**” [Claimant’s APA p. 696 (emphasis added)].

On November 25, 2008, Dr. Sandoz noted, “The patient is a very complex white male who appears to have **traumatic brain injury.**” [Claimant’s APA p. 699 (emphasis added)].

On January 6, 2009, Dr. Sandoz recorded, “The patient presented here status **post work-related injury where he had a traumatic brain injury** with the description that the patient suffer. At this moment, the **headaches appear to be chronic, posttraumatic in nature.**” [Claimant’s APA p. 701 (emphasis added)].

Six months later on June 2, 2009, Doctor Sandoz continued with the diagnosis of: “**Intracranial injury** of other and unspecified nature.” [Claimant’s APA p. 710]. The next day he wrote a letter confirming the brain injury and assigning a 20% impairment rating per the 6<sup>th</sup> Edition of the AMA Guide: “seen by MUSC Orthopaedics for cervical and lumbar injury as well for a **traumatic brain injury** From the traumatic brain injury, the patient’s impairment rating is of 20% as noted on the table 13-8.” [Claimant’s APA p. 711].

On a followup visit on July 7, 2009, Dr. Sandoz noted the specific problems resulting from the brain injury. “The patient is a 28-year old male with traumatic brain injury, headache, dizziness, difficulty with complex tasks.” [Claimant’s APA p. 713].

On August 20, 2009, Dr. Sandoz wrote a detailed explanation of Fragosa’s impairment and

total disability as it relates specifically to the brain injury:

Mr. Fragosa is a patient of mine who I have seen since 09/16/2008 secondary to a **traumatic brain injury** on 11/01/2007. He \_\_\_\_\_ for a **traumatic brain injury**. **At this moment from the injury that the patient has suffered, he is totally and permanently disabled.** After evaluation of the AMA Guidelines, he is totally and permanently disabled. After the evaluation of the AMA Guidelines, Guides to Evaluation of the Permanent Impairment Rating, fifth edition as in table 13-5, the patient has 29% of the whole person. Superimposed to this is associated with the headaches that the patient has presented and this correlates to 2% impairment of the whole body. From the standpoint of the dizziness, the patient has 10% impairment of the whole person. Utilizing a combined value chart, this is a 46% impairment of the whole body. This does not attend to the damage that the patient has suffered from his neck and back as well for his foot. [Claimant's APA p. 716 (emphasis added)]

Table 13-5 is the chart for "Clinical Dementia Rating." [AMA Guides to Permanent Impairment (5<sup>th</sup> Edition), page 320]. The 29% whole person rating for the brain injury reflects an "impairment [which] requires direction of some activities of daily living." Id.

Dr. Sandoz was deposed on August 6, 2010. He confirmed, "This is not a concussion, this is an injury suffered to the brain. . . . That's why traumatic brain injury is the preferred term. . . . [The difference is the] concussion should resolve." [George Sandoz, M.D., dep. Tr. Page 14, lines 12-19]. He further testified that it is called a traumatic brain injury "Because there's been some damage and injury to the function of the brain." [George Sandoz, M.D., dep. Tr. Page 14, lines 20-24].

On March 10, 2011, Dr. Sandoz removed all doubt regarding his opinions by answering "YES" to the question "to a reasonable degree of medical certainty whether **Mr. Fragosa has suffered physical brain damage that has rendered him totally and permanently disabled.**" [Claimant's APA p. 882 (emphasis added)].

Defense counsel arranged an evaluation with Dr. Mark Wagner, a neuropsychologist. The evaluation took place on October 30, 2008. Dr. Wagner's report is replete with observations of

physical brain damage – both the fact of the physical brain damage and the cognitive deficits resulting from that damage. He notes:

[Mr. Fragosa] had a very serious work-related injury resulting in trauma to his body and skull. He had a skull fracture with acute underlying minor structural change to the brain. . . . **He has persisting cognitive complaints.** While he has had excellent neurologic recovery, it is probably that he is exhibiting symptoms of postconcussive syndrome.<sup>2</sup> The cognitive findings while mostly normal, do contain **abnormal findings largely in the domain of complex attention and concentration.** In addition, he may have some element of **decreased intellectual efficiency**, although this was not measured.<sup>3</sup> [APA p. 614 (emphasis added)].

Included in the above description was the incidental statement that “Follow-up structural and functional studies (i.e. EEG, CT and MRI) have been read as unremarkable demonstrating structural resolution of the work-related injury.” [Defendants’ APA p. 614].

Fragosa was also evaluated by Dr. Robert Brabham, a psychologist and certified brain injury specialist, on October 27, 2010. [Claimant’s APA page 868]. Dr. Brabham concluded:

*With the passage of time, now more than 2.5 years after his injuries, behavioral and cognitive changes have persisted, as will be noted, sufficient to conclude that the brain injuries he sustained, described as post-concussion injuries in multiple records, has resulted in continuing and severe symptoms clearly associated with a **physical traumatic brain injury**, the result of his on-the-job injuries* [APA page 868 (Italics in original; bold added)].

Dr. Brabham further opined: “to a high degree of professional certainty . . . **he has experienced a**

---

<sup>2</sup>Post-concussion syndrome is a set of symptoms that a person may experience for weeks, months, or occasionally up to a year or more after a concussion—a mild form of traumatic brain injury. The condition can cause a variety of symptoms: physical, such as headache; cognitive, such as difficulty concentrating; and emotional and behavioral, such as irritability. Continuing symptoms confirm the presence of physical brain damage.

<sup>3</sup>Despite Dr. Sandoz ordering “a neuropsychological evaluation in Spanish, Dr. Wagner’s evaluation was done in English through an interpreter. As Dr. Wagner himself noted, “The caveat to this entire evaluation is the use of an interpreter and the use of tests that were not in Spanish. Both items can reduce the validity of the findings.” [AP page 674].

**(Physical) Traumatic Brain Injury and must be expected to permanently remain, unable to engage in full-time gainful, competitive employment** as a result of his medical conditions resulting from his on-the-job injuries in November 2007. [Claimant's APA page 879-880 (emphasis added)].

As of the June 28, 2011 trial, Fragosa still suffered from daily headaches, dizziness, short and long term memory deficits, cognitive deficits, and buzzing in both ears – all of which resulted from the physical brain damage. [Tr. page 34, line 5-page 38, line 16] He remains physically and mentally incapable of returning to any kind of work that he has ever done. [Tr. page 45, lines 12-15].

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

The guiding principle undergirding our workers' compensation system that the Act is to be liberally construed in favor of the claimant. Carter v. Penny Tire & Recapping Co., 261 S.C. 341, 349, 200 S.E.2d 64, 67 (1973). An award may not rest upon surmise, conjecture, or speculation. Tiller v. Nat'l Health Care Ctr. of Sumter, 334 S.C. 333, 339, 513 S.E.2d 843, 845 (1999). Instead, "[an award] must be founded on evidence of sufficient substance to afford a reasonable basis for it." Wynn v. People's Natural Gas Co. of S.C., 238 S.C. 1, 12, 118 S.E.2d 812, 818 (1961). A court may reverse or modify the Commission's decision if substantial rights of the appellant have been prejudiced because the administrative findings, inferences, conclusions or decisions are affected by other error of law. Broughton v. South of the Border, 336 S.C. 488, 520 S.E.2d 634, 637 (Ct. App. 1999).

When only one reasonable inference can be deduced from the evidence, it becomes a question of law for the courts. Kinsey v. Champion American Service Center, 268 S.C. 177, 232 S.E.2d 720 (1977). "While the appellate courts are required to be deferential to the full commission regarding questions of fact, this deference does not prevent the courts from overturning the full commission's decision when it is legally incorrect as it is here." Grant v. Grant Textiles, 372 S.C. 196, 641 S.E.2d 869 (2007). The Commission's findings will be reversed when the evidence of a compensable injury is overwhelming. Massey v. W.R. Grace & Co., 286 S.C. 434, 334 S.E.2d 122 (1985).

## ARGUMENT

**1. Hector Fragosa has suffered physical brain damage and is legally entitled to workers' compensation benefits for life.**

Hector Fragosa was hit in the head with a crane which knocked him off a roof onto the ground. He suffered a skull fracture with subdural and epidural hematomas along with frontal lobe contusions – all of which were confirmed with MRI and CT scans. He remained in a coma for 15 days following his accident.<sup>4</sup> Since then, he has suffered from proven cognitive deficits, balance problems, dizziness, seizures, and difficulty with complex tasks – resulting in permanent and total disability. Dr. Sandoz (treating neurologist); Dr. Wagner (Respondent's forensic neuropsychologist) and Dr. Brabham (psychologist and certified brain injury specialist) confirm the permanency of the cognitive deficits. Dr. Sandoz has repeatedly and explicitly stated to a reasonable degree of medical certainty that Fragosa is permanently and totally disabled due to traumatic brain injury resulting in physical brain damage. The evidence of physical brain damage is simply overwhelming. See Pearson v. JPS Converter & Indus. Corp., 489 S.E.2d 219, 327 S.C. 393 (Ct. App. 1997)(affirming award of lifetime benefits for physical brain damage when “[a]t most, one physician, Dr. Woodward, indicated that he could not determine whether the greater cause of Pearson's disability was his psychological deficits or his organic brain damage [and] [n]ot one physician has stated that Claimant's disability is not due to physical brain damage.”).

Fragosa has reached MMI. He suffered severe permanent physical brain damage –

---

<sup>4</sup>The CDC developed a definition of traumatic injury for the Department of Defense and Veterans Administration. Under the CDC's definition, a loss of consciousness longer than 24 hours is classified as a *severe* traumatic brain injury. See Department of Defense and Department of Veterans Affairs (2008). “Traumatic Brain Injury Task Force” <http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/icd9/Sep08TBI.pdf>

sufficiently severe for the Commission to find in its original order “That the Claimant sustained a 46% permanent impairment to the whole person for a traumatic brain injury as stated by Dr. George M. Sandoz in his August 20, 2009 letter.” [R. page 22, Finding of Fact 8]. The Commission further found “that the Claimant is permanently and totally disabled and is unable to return to any type of work that he has performed in the past.” [R. page 22, Finding of Fact 9]. These twin findings plainly meet the permanent and severe standard set forth in Crisp and Sparks.

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