THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court Of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SOUTH CAROLINA
Workers' Compensation Commission Full Appellate Panel

WCC File No.: 0717624

Appellate Case No.: 2014-002354

Hector G. Fragosa, (Employee/Claimant),Appellant,

v.

Kade Construction, LLC (Employer) and
Key Risk Management Services, Inc. (Carrier), Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' FINAL BRIEF

J. Gabriel Coggiola, Esquire
Michael W. Burkett, Esquire
Willson, Jones, Carter & Baxley, P.A.
4500 Fort Jackson Boulevard
Columbia, South Carolina 29209
(803) 227-2889
jgcoggiola@wjlaw.net
mwburkett@wjlaw.net
Attorneys for Respondents

RECEIVED
JUN 16 2015
SC Court of Appeals

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

ARGUMENT

- I. **The Workers' Compensation Commission Full Appellate Panel correctly complied with the Court of Appeals instructions to remand the claim for a determination of whether Appellant sustained an injury to the brain, and if so, whether the injury was of such severity to constitute "Permanent Brain Damage" as contemplated by S.C. Code Ann. §42-9-10(C) and in light of the Supreme Court holdings in Crisp and Sparks.**

The South Carolina Workers' Compensation Act sets forth three (3) separate forms of permanent disability benefits: (1) permanent and total disability under §42-9-10; (2) permanent

and total disability benefits which compensate for decreased wage earning capacity under §42-9-20; and (3) permanent partial disability benefits for “scheduled member injuries” set forth in §42-9-30 and Regulation 67-1101.

Under §42-9-10(A), such disability exists “[w]hen the incapacity to work resulting from an injury is total.” Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. §42-9-10(A), “[i]n no case may the period covered by the compensation exceed five hundred (500) weeks, except as provided in subsection (C).” Subsection (C) specifically sets forth the only three (3) exceptions in the entire Act to which the 500 week cap does not apply: (1) an injury resulting in paraplegia; (2) an injury resulting in quadriplegia; and (3) an injury resulting in physical brain “damage.”

When drafting this section of the Act, the Legislature was forced to contemplate every possible injury that could arise in the workers’ compensation arena and then narrowly limit the five hundred (500) week cap exceptions into only the three categories listed above. Each limited exception presupposes a heightened criteria required to justify a claimant’s entitlement to lifetime benefits. When examining the language of S.C. Code Ann. §42-9-10(C), it is imperative to note the use of specific language in the statute. The statute does not allow an exception for a claimant who has suffered an “injury” to the brain, but instead it specifically adds the qualifier of physical brain “*damage*.”— An “injury” to the brain is properly compensated under Regulation 67-1101, which allows for between twenty five (25) and two-hundred and fifty (250) weeks of compensation for partial or total loss of use of the brain.

On March 6, 2014, the South Carolina Supreme Court issued two (2) opinions providing guidance to the lower courts on how to determine whether an injury to the brain constitutes brain “damage” so as to trigger entitlement to lifetime benefits. In Crisp II, the Supreme Court rejected the argument that any physical brain injury, regardless of degree, triggers the operation of section

42-9-10(C), since it is “contrary to legislative intent and to the manner in which our courts have awarded compensation to the brain.” (Crisp II; at 842). The Court goes on to state:

As we found in Sparks, we view the inclusion of “physical brain damage,” along with quadriplegia and paraplegia, in section 42-9-10(C) as indicative of the General Assembly’s intent to compensate an employee-claimant for life only in the most serious cases of injury to the brain, separate and apart from other scheduled injuries, resulting in physical brain damage. As noted in Sparks, permanency and physicality are requirements. However, the *severity of the injury is the lynchpin of the analysis.*” (Emphasis added)

Id at 843.

Respondents respectfully disagree with Appellant’s statement that in Crisp II, the Court explained that entitlement to lifetime compensation was predicated on “brain damage so severe that the person could not subsequently return to suitable gainful employment.” The Court in Crisp II actually states, “Inherent in the requirement that the injury to the brain be severe is the requirement that the worker in unable to return to suitable gainful employment.” (Id. at 842). It is imperative to note the specific language used by the Court in this sentence. A finding of permanent and total disability is *inherent* in the requirement that the injury be severe, but the Court did not use the requirement of permanent and total disability as the sole outcome determinative test for finding brain “damage.” Instead, it continued to rely on the “permanency and severity” requirement that is to be decided by the Workers Compensation Commission on a case by case basis. (Id. at 844).

It is worth noting that the Court used the phrase severity of the “injury” as opposed to severity of the resulting “disability” as the lynchpin of the analysis. This distinction used by the Court further supports the argument that a finding of permanent and total disability is not the outcome determinative factor, but instead, part of the evidence as a whole that the Workers’ Compensation Commission is directed to use when determining whether an injury to the brain reaches the severity level of brain “damage” as contemplated by §42-9-10(c).

In this case, Appellant suggests that the findings of the Single Commissioner's Order rendered Appellant permanently and totally disabled. Appellant bases this argument on his statement that the Single Commissioner's combined findings that (1) Claimant sustained 46% to the whole person for traumatic brain injury, and (2) Claimant is permanently and totally disabled meet the permanent and severe test in Crisp II and Sparks. What Appellant conveniently leaves out is the first half of the Single Commissioner's finding that the Claimant is permanently and totally disabled as a result of his multiple impairment ratings to his right lower extremity, left upper extremity, head, and inner ear. (R. pp. 10-11, Finding of Fact # 9 and Conclusion of Law #2). This argument was already presented to the Court of Appeals at previous oral arguments, and instead of accepting Appellant's argument that these findings resulted in lifetime benefits, the Court of Appeals remanded to the Full Commission for clarification under the new case law, which was not available at the Single Commissioner hearing. (R. p. 29).

Based on the requirements set forth by the Supreme Court in Crisp II and Sparks, the Full Commission Appellate Panel properly followed the Court of Appeals instructions on remand by reviewing the evidence to determine both whether Appellant sustained a brain injury, and whether the injury was of such severity as to rise to the level of "brain damage."

II. The Workers' Compensation Commission Full Appellate Panel correctly determined that Appellant's combined injuries rendered him permanently and totally disabled, and Appellant's brain injury is compensable pursuant to Regulation 67-1101, and therefore subject to the 500 week statutory limitation.

In evaluating whether the evidence in this case supported a finding that Claimant's sustained an injury to the brain, but the injury was not of sufficient severity to reach the level of physical brain damage, the Full Commission went through a detailed analysis of the complete

medical records and cited an extensive list of evidence in support of its decision as set forth below:

1. Appellate Panel fully recognizes the seriousness and significance of Claimant's accident, which could have proven fatal: Claimant sustained a skull fracture, sustained hematomas, sustained a myriad other injuries, was unconscious at the scene, and had to be intubated for 16 days while hospitalized. However, the significance of the mechanics of an accident and the initial diagnoses are not dispositive in light of the standard set forth by the Supreme Court as to whether Claimant sustained permanent and serious physical brain damage (thereby entitling a claimant to receive lifetime benefits).(APA, pp 417 and 430). (R. p. 477).
2. Claimant's skull fracture was not a depressed skull fracture (*i.e.* no bone fragment actually pressed into the brain), and no surgical intervention was required for Claimant's head injury. (Deposition testimony of Dr. Sandoz, p. 6.)(R. p. 1081, lines 2-14).
3. As to Claimant's mastoiditis, the mastoid is not part of the brain, but part of the skull. We base this finding on the deposition testimony of Dr. Sandoz, pages 19-21, and on APA, p. 699).(R. pp.1094-1096; R., p. 746).
4. Two days after the date of the accident, Claimant was able to "answer yes/no to questions with simple words." (APA, p. 85).(R. p. 132).
5. Three days after the date of the accident, Claimant could follow simple commands. (APA, p. 10).(R. p. 57).
6. Four days after the date of the accident, Claimant opened his eyes on command, and nodded appropriately to questions. (APA, p. 124).(R. p. 171).
7. Eight days after the date of the accident, Claimant was able to follow verbal commands. (APA, pp. 210 and 239).(R. pp. 257 and 286).
8. Nineteen days after the date of the accident, Claimant was "able to indicate that he lives in an apartment in Myrtle Beach with 5 other people." Claimant was also "able to communicate basic needs through gestures, head nods, or mouthing words," and was able to follow commands. (APA, pp. 389, 392, and 394. *See also* pages 399, 401, 408, and 410, relating to the 20th day after the date of the accident).(R. pp. 436, 439, and 441. *See also* R. pp. 446, 448, 455, and 457).
9. Twenty-two days after the accident, Claimant asked for water by name (in Spanish), and was "alert" and able to follow simple commands. (APA, pp. 423 and 531).(R. pp. 470 and 578).
10. Twenty-three days after the accident, Claimant was alert, followed commands, "conversive and makes sense," such that he is noted to be "mentally much improved."

- Claimant inquired as to when his trach would be removed. (APA, pp. 425-426).(R. pp. 472-473).
11. Twenty-five days after the date of the accident, Claimant was walking with his therapist in the hospital hall, conversing, oriented, and “more aware and alert.” Claimant’s memory is medically documented as “intact” and within normal limits. (APA pp. 434 and 549).(R. pp. 481 and 596).
 12. Twenty-seven days after the date of the accident, Claimant’s memory is documented as intact and within normal limits. (APA, pp. 558, 563, and 567).(R. pp. 605, 610, and 614).
 13. Twenty-eight days after the date of the accident, Claimant’s memory is documented as intact and within normal limits. (APA, p. 570).(R. p. 617).
 14. Twenty-nine days after the date of the accident, Claimant’s memory is documented as intact and within normal limits. (APA, p. 575). (R. p. 622).
 15. As Claimant suffered respiratory failure on the date of the accident and ultimately had to undergo a tracheostomy and other myriad procedures, Claimant was chemically sedated with Propofol and ventilated/intubated for a good portion of his hospital stay. The following records document the fact that Claimant was comatose, chemically sedated, and unresponsive during portions of his stay (APA, pp. 1, 29, 39, 68, 87, 109, 126, 132, 135, 137, 152, 158, 163, 175, 184, 188, 198-199, 208, 211, 219, 274, 282, 285, 295, 308, 313, 315, 330, 332, 340, 343, 353-354, and 385).(R. pp. 48, 76, 86, 115, 134, 156, 173, 179, 182, 184, 199, 205, 210, 222, 231, 235, 245-246, 255, 258, 266, 321, 329, 332, 342, 355, 360, 362, 377, 379, 387, 400-401, and 432).
 16. Slightly less than one month after the date of the injury, Claimant expressed understanding of his foot condition and gave consent (on “2 separate occasions” via an interpreter) to the surgery that was to be performed. Other than the language barrier (for which an interpreter was utilized), Dr. Woolf does not note any cognitive problems in his medical records. (APA, pp. 413 and 440).(R. pp. 460 and 487).
 17. On the date of Claimant’s hospital discharge, Claimant is documented as “ambulating without any difficulties” and “alert and oriented x 3.” Discharge instructions were given to Claimant (not just to his family) via interpreter, and he is noted to have voiced no concerns with his hospital discharge. (APA, pp. 417-481, 444, and 578).(R. pp. 464-528, p. 491 and p.625).
 18. Dr. Norcross of MUSC terms Claimant’s neurological recovery as “actually remarkable.” Dr. Takacs (also of MUSC) states that Claimant has “no neurological sequela.” (APA, pages 593, 614, and 597).(R. pp. 640, 661, and 644).
 19. Approximately one year after the date of the accident, Dr. Wagner found Claimant’s cognitive deficits to be “relatively mild,” and his Glasgow Coma Scale 15/15. Further,

Dr. Wagner attributes some of Claimant's cognitive complaints to situational depression and pain. (APA, pp. 652-655).(R. pp. 699-702).

20. Claimant's ENG shows an "incomplete right-sided vestibulopathy," and Dr. Hoy notes (in 2009) that Claimant "has improved rather significantly" after performing vestibular exercises. (APA, p. 664).(R. p. 711).
21. Evidence (*i.e.* statements and testimony from Claimant himself) shows that Claimant is able to drive (and does in fact drive), an activity which requires more than physical skill. This is inconsistent with the opinion of Dr. Brabham, who opined Claimant "knew how to drive prior to the TBI," but not that Claimant is "unable to drive" in part because of "cognitive deficits which result in 'errors' when driving." In fact, Claimant's only impediment to driving (as documented in physical therapy records) is restricted range of motion with regard to his neck and restricted use of his left arm. After physical therapy, Claimant was noted to be "able to turn head to drive with less difficulty . . ." Claimant himself admitted at the hearing that he is able to drive. The fact that Claimant denied an ability to drive to Dr. Brabham (a) results in the Panel's doubt regarding the alleged severity of Claimant's symptomatology, and (b) dilutes the strength of the Brabham opinion, as the opinion is based in part on the "fact" that Claimant is no longer able to drive (in part) because of cognitive difficulties. (Hearing Transcript p. 48; APA, pp. 735, 744, 746, 760, 762, 812, and 869-870).(R. p. 1145, lines 16-18; pp. 782, 791, 793, 807, 809, 859, and 916-917.)
22. Claimant contends his brain/skull injury was of a sufficient degree so as to cause hearing loss. In an intake sheet dated August 2008, Claimant responded that he had no present or past hearing loss. Further, Dr. Sandoz found Claimant's hearing "intact" at several separate medical visits. When Claimant later reported hearing loss to Dr. Sandoz (approximately a year after the date of the accident), it was on the right side. By contrast, Claimant inconsistently told Dr. Wagner that his hearing loss is "especially on the left side." Finally, Dr. Hoy found Claimant's audiogram was "entirely normal," and Claimant's examination "entirely benign." (APA, pp. 652, 656, 664, 666, 670-671, 674, 680, 696, 698, 700, and 702).(R. pp. 699, 703, 711, 713, 717-718, 721, 727, 743, 745, 747, and 749).
23. Dr. Sandoz and Dr. Glaser found Claimant's gait "normal" or "basically normal" (Claimant had toes amputated), and his coordination intact. By contrast, Claimant told Dr. Brabham "I walk like a drunk." This factor called into question the actual severity of Claimant's alleged symptoms. (APA, pp. 646, 692, and 715; *Cf.* APA, pages 868-869).(R. pp. 693, 739, and 762; *Cf.* R. pp.915-916).
24. Although Claimant testified at the hearing that his head injury has caused a "clog" in his ears, Claimant's intake sheet (10 months after the date of the accident) mentions no problem with his ears. (Hearing Transcript, page 39; APA, p. 670, *e.g.*).(R. p. 1136, p.717 *e.g.*).

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